

Annual Review of Plant Biology Phosphorus Acquisition and Utilization in Plants

Hans Lambers^{1,2}

¹School of Biological Sciences and Institute of Agriculture, University of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia, Australia; email: hans.lambers@uwa.edu.au

²Department of Plant Nutrition, College of Resources and Environmental Sciences, National Academy of Agriculture Green Development, Key Laboratory of Plant-Soil Interactions, Ministry of Education, China Agricultural University, Beijing, China

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2022. 73:17-42

First published as a Review in Advance on December 15, 2021

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-102720-125738

Copyright © 2022 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

carboxylates, manganese, phosphorus-acquisition efficiency, phosphorus toxicity, phosphorus-use efficiency, silicon

Abstract

Tremendous progress has been made on molecular aspects of plant phosphorus (P) nutrition, often without heeding information provided by soil scientists, ecophysiologists, and crop physiologists. This review suggests ways to integrate information from different disciplines.

When soil P availability is very low, P-mobilizing strategies are more effective than mycorrhizal strategies. Soil parameters largely determine how much P roots can acquire from P-impoverished soil, and kinetic properties of P transporters are less important. Changes in the expression of P transporters avoid P toxicity.

Plants vary widely in photosynthetic P-use efficiency, photosynthesis per unit leaf P. The challenge is to discover what the trade-offs are of different patterns of investment in P fractions. Less investment may save P, but are costs incurred? Are these costs acceptable for crops? These questions can be resolved only by the concerted action of scientists working at both molecular and physiological levels, rather than pursuing these problems independently.

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	18
2.	PHOSPHORUS IN THE SOIL SOLUTION AND SOIL	19
	2.1. Inorganic and Organic Phosphorus in the Soil Solution	19
	2.2. Phosphorus Fractions in Soil	19
	2.3. Plant Availability of Soil Phosphorus	20
	2.4. Uptake of Manganese and Silicon as Affected by Phosphorus-Acquisition	
	Strategy	23
	2.5. Soil Characteristics Are Major Determinants for Plant	
	Orthophosphate Uptake	23
3.	UPTAKE OF PHOSPHORUS FROM THE RHIZOSPHERE,	
	LONG-DISTANCE TRANSPORT, AND PHOSPHORUS TOXICITY	24
	3.1. Phosphorus Transport	25
	3.2. Phosphorus Toxicity	25
4.	PHOSPHORUS UTILIZATION: BEYOND PHOSPHORUS	
	FRACTIONATION	26
	4.1. Orthophosphate: Preferential Allocation to Specific Leaf Cells	27
	4.2. Phospholipids	28
	4.3. Nucleic Acids	28
	4.4. Phosphorus-Containing Metabolites	30
	4.5. What Does the Variation in Leaf Phosphorus Fractions Really Mean?	32
	4.6. The Way Forward	32
5.	PERSPECTIVES	32

1. INTRODUCTION

Phosphorus (P) is essential for all life on Earth and, for plants, a key element in photosynthesis, respiration, and the biosynthesis of nucleic acids and membranes (68). It also plays an important role in the regulation of many enzymes (189). As a plant macronutrient, P frequently limits productivity in both natural and agricultural systems, especially crop production in low input systems worldwide (35). Plants take up P as orthophosphate, and this has been a thoroughly studied aspect of plant nutrition, with an extensive literature on molecular, biochemical, morphological, and physiological effects of P deficiency reviewed in this journal (18, 32, 103, 134).

There are excellent reviews on the role of P in several aspects of plant metabolism in this journal (31, 103, 134, 157). These provide a comprehensive overview of the complex nature of P acquisition and utilization by plants. An outstanding reference source for an overall understanding of P in soil and plants is *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Plants* (139).

This review provides an overview of physiological and biochemical acclimations and adaptations of plants to acquire and utilize P, emphasizing recent developments in ecophysiological aspects of P acquisition and utilization. This is an exciting period for those studying plant nutrition. After significant progress on molecular aspects of P acquisition and utilization, we can now begin to explore the opportunities for crop improvement and move toward a better understanding of ecological functioning in the context of global change. However, we stand on the shoulders of giants (119) and must not forget the work done before us. Sometimes, old but insightful papers appear to be slipping into oblivion; at these moments, it is time to put the spotlight on them again. Integration of new molecular evidence with more traditional plant and soil science information will be pivotal to achieve a comprehensive understanding of P nutrition in plants and applied outcomes of enhanced P-use efficiency in crops. To quote Grant W. Thomas (170), "Old age and a certain lack of patience have prompted me to write a few thoughts on our practice of science both for the edification and the annoyance of my colleagues and friends."

2. PHOSPHORUS IN THE SOIL SOLUTION AND SOIL

Roots and mycorrhizal fungi acquire P from the soil solution as orthophosphate P (P_i), as $H_2PO_4^-$ (66, 131, 147). The P_i concentration [P_i] in the soil solution is invariably very low, as detailed in Section 2.1.

2.1. Inorganic and Organic Phosphorus in the Soil Solution

Pierre & Parker (130) studied 21 agricultural soils from the United States, representing a wide range in texture and organic matter content, and measured an average $[P_i]$ in the soil solution of 3 μ M (range: <0.6 to 11 μ M). More recent publications have included soils fertilized with P at rates that are common agronomic practice, and they corroborate the range of soil [Pi] reported in the earlier work (99). Plants can be grown at these low P_i concentrations, provided that the concentration is maintained. This is exactly what Asher & Loneragan (10) did, using a facility that was locally known as their Ashertron (A.D. Robson, personal communication). A similar approach has also been used elsewhere (23). Maximum plant growth is reached at a wide range of [P_i], but all concentrations are very low. It is 1 µM for of *Vulpia myuros* (silver grass), whereas Erodium botrys (erodium), Trifolium subterraneum (subclover), and Bromus rigidus (ripgut brome grass) reach maximum yield at 5 μ M, and this is sufficient to reach 90% of the maximum biomass for Arctotheca calendula (capeweed). Interestingly, $24 \mu M$ produces significantly more growth in Medicago tribuloides (barrel medic) and Hypochaeris glabra (smooth cat's-ear) than does any lower [P_i], but this concentration produces severe necrosis in leaves of *V* myuros and inhibits its growth. Likewise, it produces necrosis in leaves of T. subterraneum and Lupinus digitatus (blue lupin). At the highest P supply, the P concentration in the shoots of the three P-sensitive species ranges from 9 to 18 mg P g^{-1} dry weight (10).

When investigating effects of P availability on growth and metabolism of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Solanum lycopersicum* (tomato), 250 μ M (116), 1 mM (117), or 2.5 mM (188) is typically used to grow normal P-sufficient plants, and plants are commonly grown at 0 mM to provide P-limiting conditions. Depending on the hypotheses to be addressed, it might be worth considering the Ashertron approach, referred to above (10), as an alternative. For small plants like *A. thaliana*, this would not require a major investment but would allow investigation of plants at a more realistic P_i availability.

The average organic P concentration in the 21 different soils studied by Pierre & Parker (130) was 15 μ M, considerably greater than the average [P_i]. Organic P cannot be taken up by roots or mycorrhizal fungi, but it can be made available following hydrolysis by root-released or microbial phosphatases (57, 106). Most P in soil is not in the soil solution and not readily available for roots or mycorrhizal fungi. Some organic P is relatively mobile and may leach far more readily than P_i (76). Other organic P molecules are at least as tightly bound as P_i, for example, phytate, also known as inositol hexakisphosphate (7, 191).

2.2. Phosphorus Fractions in Soil

Soil scientists have long chemically partitioned P in soil in different fractions (29, 77), but the relevance of most of these fractions for plants has never been demonstrated. More importantly,

Sorption: soil process comprising adsorption (precipitation) onto soil particles and absorption inside particles; sorption strength is expressed as phosphorus buffer capacity

Nonmycorrhizal

plant species: plants that are incapable of establishing a mycorrhizal symbiosis; they occur at both extremes of the soil fertility spectrum

Phosphophile: plant

species that naturally occur in habitats that contain large amounts of plant-available phosphorus

Carboxylate:

the organic anion component of an organic acid

Phosphorusscavenging strategy: a phosphorus-

acquisition mechanism based on exploring a large soil volume and acquiring phosphorus from the soil solution the fractionation procedures may detect discrete compounds, even when they are absent; for example, calcium phosphate is detected when no calcium is present because goethite or aluminum oxide is used, rather than real soil (15). Some of these fractions are useful, however. These include the readily plant-available fractions, but what is unavailable for some plants is readily available for others that exhibit different P-acquisition strategies, as discussed in Section 2.3. These plant-available fractions are referred to as Resin P, Colwell P, Bray P, or Mehlich P (34, 177, 186), depending on the extraction procedure that is followed. Soil P_i is mostly adsorbed and penetrates heterogeneous variable-charge particles (14). Removal of P by plants initially depletes the soil solution, inducing desorption of adsorbed phosphate, and this enhances backward diffusion of the penetrated phosphate. Thus, P supply in soils exceeds the amount of P in solution. Nevertheless, many scientists hold to the precipitate-particulate theory and accordingly attempt to partition soil P into different fractions, many of which are often interpreted as discrete iron, aluminum, or calcium phosphates. Research has recently shown that when these fractionation procedures were applied to iron or aluminum phosphate in which the phosphate was only present in adsorbed or penetrated forms, discrete fractions were detected, and often these were wrong: Iron, aluminum, and calcium phosphates were detected where there were none (15).

It is very important to consider organic P, which can be a major fraction, especially in old soils, even when the total P concentration is very low (176). Other molecules, such as phytate (7), strongly sorb onto soil particles and can be accessed only following the release of phytases (80), while at the same time providing a mechanism to avoid sorption of the released P_i onto soil particles (54). If we aim to understand which P molecules exist in soil, ³¹P-nuclear magnetic resonance (³¹P-NMR) (27, 112) or P K-edge X-ray absorption near-edge structure (XANES) spectroscopy (62) should be used, rather than classical fractionation techniques only.

Whatever technique is used to measure P-containing molecules in soil, we can be absolutely certain to find no P_2O_5 , which exists neither in soil nor in fertilizer bags. It would be helpful if users were informed about what form of P exists in the bag. Common forms are (single, ordinary, or normal) superphosphate $[Ca(H_2PO_4)_2]$, which is produced by the action of concentrated sulfuric acid on powdered phosphate rock or (originally) ground animal bones, and triple superphosphate, which is produced by exposing rock phosphate to phosphoric acid and therefore has a higher P content (http://www.ipni.net/specifics). Other forms of P fertilizer include potassium phosphate, monoammonium phosphate, and diammonium phosphate (82, 164). Yet, most fertilizer manufacturers, and even some scientists, continue to pervasively use what Berzelius (16) believed was the correct formula more than 200 years ago. It is high time we stopped using P_2O_5 in current writing; it belongs to the nineteenth, rather than the twentieth or twenty-first, century (92).

2.3. Plant Availability of Soil Phosphorus

The availability for a plant of soil P strongly depends on its P-acquisition strategy. For nonmycorrhizal plant species without any specific strategy, such as most Brassicaceae, Caryophyllaceae, Chenopodiaceae, and Urticaceae (25), only P that is close to the surface of roots or root hairs can be accessed (100). These plants typically occur in nutrient-rich habitats with a high P concentration in the soil solution; they are commonly referred to as nitrophiles (21) but can also be considered phosphophiles. For arbuscular mycorrhizal and ectomycorrhizal plants, P_i that is in the soil solution but beyond the root depletion zone can also be accessed (107). For ectomycorrhizal plants, some of the organic P in solution is available as well, and if they release carboxylates, some sorbed P can be accessed (156). Mycorrhizal plants exhibit a P-scavenging strategy (100). For nonmycorrhizal plants that release large amounts of carboxylates and phosphatases, P that is sorbed onto soil particles is made available, including organic P. This strategy is typically expressed in plants on severely P-impoverished or strongly P-sorbing soils. They exhibit a P-mining strategy (100).

Phosphorus-mining strategies have been the most profoundly studied in nonmycorrhizal Lupinus albus (55, 146, 196) and Proteaceae (149, 153); most of these species produce carboxylatereleasing cluster roots. These strategies are also common in nonmycorrhizal Cyperaceae, some of which produce dauciform roots (65, 148); Restionaceae and Anarthriaceae, which produce capillaroid roots (90, 101); Haemodoraceae, which produce sand-binding roots (155, 195); and Velloziaceae, some of which produce vellozioid roots (2, 167) (Figure 1). Some roots release substantial amounts of carboxylates without obvious specialized structures, for instance, Cicer arietinum (chickpea) (125) and Eucalyptus patens (blackbutt) (95), which are both mycorrhizal plant species. Comparing both growth and grain yield of cluster-rooted species with those of nonclusterrooted Lupinus species, all of which are nonmycorrhizal and release carboxylates, cluster-rooted species perform better at the lowest P availabilities in soil (20, 126). This indicates that the combination of structure and physiology leads to the best performance of crop lupines when P availability is very low. Comparing a mycorrhizal Proteaceae species without cluster roots (Placospermum coriaceum) with three nonmycorrhizal ones that produce cluster roots also showed that the species with cluster roots produced more biomass at very low availability of P (94). In contrast, comparisons of carboxylate-releasing Cyperaceae species that do and do not produce dauciform roots have not shown an unambiguous advantage of a combination of structure and physiology (65, 86), possibly because they have not been compared over the same wide range as Lupinus and Proteaceae species have (20). Alternatively, Cyperaceae species without dauciform roots may compensate for a lower P-acquisition capacity by a greater internal P-use efficiency (65) or express functionally similar root strategies, such as typical long root hairs (86).

Parfitt (127) carried out an experiment using goethite, which strongly sorbs P. Goethite is an iron oxyhydroxide mineral that is common in soil; in 1806, it was named after Johan Wolfgang von Goethe, who is best known as a German poet but also had a keen interest in geology and mineralogy (175). Parfitt (127) added increasing amounts of P to goethite. No P was readily available to Lolium perenne (ryegrass) until the P-sorbing sites on the goethite surface were >40% covered with P_i. The P availability for ryegrass increased as the P concentration in solution increased. Maximum P availability was attained when the P concentration in solution was 2 µM, which occurred at about 75% coverage of P-sorbing sites on goethite. Most importantly, mycorrhizas increase the P availability for ryegrass at a concentration range of about 0.5–2 μ M P (60-70% coverage of the sorbing sites on the goethite surface). This experiment clearly shows that P-scavenging mycorrhizas can contribute to P uptake when soil P availability is low, but when soils are severely P impoverished, P-mining strategies are more effective to acquire P. That is the situation in soils with a very low total P concentration as well as in soils where P is strongly sorbed onto hydroxides or oxides of iron or aluminum (at low pH) or onto calcium-containing compounds (at high pH). In fact, at very low P availability, the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis is typically suppressed (1, 174). Further evidence to support the contention that P-mining strategies are more effective than P-scavenging strategies at extremely low soil P availabilities is provided by an experiment that compared an unusual mycorrhizal Proteaceae species that does not make cluster roots (P. coriaceum) with three other Proteaceae species that are nonmycorrhizal but do produce cluster roots (94). The nonmycorrhizal species perform better at the lowest soil P concentration than the mycorrhizal P. coriaceum. It would be worthwhile to repeat Parfitt's experiment with goethite using ectomycorrhizal species as well as nonmycorrhizal carboxylate-releasing plants.

Phosphorus-mining strategy:

a phosphorusacquisition mechanism based on mobilizing sorbed inorganic phosphorus or organic phosphorus following the release of, e.g., carboxylates or phosphatases, respectively

Cluster roots:

specialized root structures with abundant root hairs that release carboxylates into the rhizosphere, thus solubilizing poorly available soil nutrients (e.g., phosphate)

Mycorrhizal plant

species: plants that can establish a mycorrhizal symbiosis; mycorrhizal colonization cannot be used as evidence that the mycorrhizas supported phosphorus acquisition



(Caption appears on following page)

Specialized root structures involved in carboxylate release and phosphorus mobilization. (*a*) Simple cluster roots of *Hakea prostrata* and (*b*) compound cluster roots of *Banksia grandis*, grown in nutrient solution at 1 μ M phosphorus (P). Both species belong to the Proteaceae, and these roots were therefore originally called proteoid roots, but since they also occur in other families, the term cluster roots is now more common. (*c*) Simple cluster roots of *Daviesia physodes* (Fabaceae) freshly dug up in its natural habitat. (*d*) Simple cluster roots of *Aspalathus linearis* (rooibos tea, Fabaceae) freshly dug up in a farmer's field. (*e*) Dauciform roots of *Schoenus* sp. (*left*) and *Carex* sp. (Cyperaceae), grown in nutrient solution at 1 μ M P. (*f*) Capillaroid roots of *Mastersiella digitata* (Restionaceae) grown in nutrient solution at 1 μ M P. (*g*) Vellozioid roots of *Barbacenia tomentosa* (Velloziaceae). (*b*) Sand-binding roots of *Lyginia barbata* (Anarthriaceae), freshly dug up in its natural habitat. Photos provided by Michael W. Shane (*a*, *b*, *d*, *e*, *f*, *b*), Hongtao Zhong (*c*), and Grazielle S. Teodoro (*g*).

2.4. Uptake of Manganese and Silicon as Affected by Phosphorus-Acquisition Strategy

Plants that produce cluster roots, which we now know to release carboxylates, have long been known to have high leaf manganese concentrations ([Mn]) (56, 81), but only recently has leaf [Mn] been considered as a proxy for rhizosheath carboxylates (95, 96, 125). This tool is now available to identify genotypes with desirable P-acquisition traits (125, 184) as well as to screen for P-acquisition strategies of plants growing in their natural habitat (194, 195).

Somewhat surprisingly, de Tombeur et al. (40, 41) found an increase in leaf silicon (Si) concentration ([Si]), correlated with an increase in leaf [Mn], with increasing soil age and decreasing soil P availability along a long-term chronosequence. This contrasted with decreasing plant-available concentrations of nutrients and the beneficial element Si in soil (**Figure 2**). It is very likely that increased carboxylate release with increasing soil age and decreasing soil P concentration mobilized not only P and Mn but also Si because the rates of dissolution and amounts of Si released from Si-bearing minerals increase in the presence of chelating substances (19, 22, 28, 40, 182). This would explain the increase in leaf [Si] in those species that are capable of Si uptake, for example, in Cyperaceae species (41, 43). This offers tremendous potential, because Si is a beneficial element (51, 52) that offers protection against both biotic and abiotic stresses (4, 37, 44, 79, 159).

2.5. Soil Characteristics Are Major Determinants for Plant Orthophosphate Uptake

Soil pH is considered a major determinant of P availability for plants, but this is not quite straightforward because plant traits determine the response of P uptake to pH and soil characteristics affect the sorption of P as dependent on soil pH. Root P_i uptake increases with decreasing pH, as studied most carefully in *Zea mays* (maize), where all processes involved in P_i uptake were considered (147). For P uptake in roots of *Trifolium repens* (white clover), Dunlop & Bowling (50) found a pH optimum of 4.3 on one hand. Sorption, on the other hand, also increases at decreasing soil pH (13), thus counteracting the potential of roots. Clearly, textbook figures, including one in Lambers & Oliveira (98), are an oversimplification and should be taken with a grain of salt. Does that mean that farmers should not lime acid soils to enhance the availability of P? No, because liming may not enhance the P availability because of a change in pH, but it does decrease the sorption of P onto soil (158).

It has long been known that at a low P availability, soil characteristics such as the P buffer capacity and P diffusion coefficient have major impacts well beyond that of the kinetic properties of the roots' P-uptake system (12, 124, 154). The rate of root elongation and root hairs also play

Rhizosheath: the physical rhizosphere zone where soil particles are bound together by root exudates and root hairs

Silicon (Si):

a nonessential beneficial plant element; effects of Si include regulation of plant development and protection against abiotic stresses, pathogens, and herbivory

Phosphorus buffer

capacity: the amount of phosphorus sorbed when the phosphorus concentration in the equilibrium solution is raised



Figure 2

Correlation between the concentrations of silicon ([Si]) and manganese ([Mn]) in leaves of a range of Cyperaceae species along a 2-million-year dune chronosequence in Jurien Bay in southwestern Australia. The chronosequence exhibits a very strong natural gradient of soil phosphorus (P) concentrations, declining with increasing soil age. With declining soil P availability, plants that acquire P using a carboxylate-releasing P-acquisition strategy become more common. Many Cyperaceae species produce carboxylate-releasing dauciform or sand-binding roots (**Figure 1**). Leaf [Mn] is a proxy for carboxylate concentration in the rhizosheath (96, 125). Data from References 40 and 41.

important roles (45, 123), but kinetic parameters such as I_{max} and K_m do not (59, 154). Yet, several research groups have attempted to change the kinetic properties of the plant P-uptake system, believing that plants upregulate their P-uptake system under P starvation, so it must be important. Do they really upregulate their P-uptake system under P starvation, though, or do they, in fact, downregulate their P-uptake systems when they have sufficient P? A simple change in expression will not answer that question, but this is exactly what is explored in Section 3.2. In accordance with the low impact of kinetic parameters of the P-uptake system, overexpression of the gene encoding a P transporter in *Hordeum vulgare* (barley) does not increase P uptake under any of the conditions tested (133).

Rhizosphere:

conceptual zone of soil influenced by a root; the zone is smallest for phosphate, greater for nitrate, and even greater for water, and thus is physically ill-defined, unlike the rhizosheath

3. UPTAKE OF PHOSPHORUS FROM THE RHIZOSPHERE, LONG-DISTANCE TRANSPORT, AND PHOSPHORUS TOXICITY

Plants only take up P_i , as $H_2PO_4^-$ (131, 147), from their rhizosphere, and no organic P. Claims that they do take up complex P molecules such as DNA (129) have not been substantiated in subsequent experiments. Likewise, plants or fungi do not have a system to take up P linked to quantum dots (181). It remains puzzling how these P-linked quantum dots enter plants or fungi. However, until it has been demonstrated that these P-linked quantum dots abide by the same rules as P that is taken up as P_i , we must be careful when interpreting the colorful images produced by this technique based on P linked to quantum dots.

3.1. Phosphorus Transport

Plants rely on root phosphate transporters (PHTs) to acquire P_i from the soil solution and transport it inside the plant, inside cells, between cells, and between plant organs, as covered in recent reviews (47, 103, 122). Under P-sufficient conditions, the $[P_i]$ in the cytosol is in the millimolar range (114), and, therefore, roots take up P_i from the soil solution against a steep electrochemical potential gradient. The uptake of $H_2PO_4^-$ is an energy-mediated process, driven by a protonmotive force (180) that increases the pH of the external solution, indicating that P_i uptake involves a P_i/H^+ cotransport (178). The stoichiometry of the P_i/H^+ cotransport is two to four protons per $H_2PO_4^-$ (143, 179).

The vast majority of vascular plants can form a symbiotic association with mycorrhizal fungi, which may be responsible for the lion's share of P uptake under low P conditions (as reviewed in 157), but these fungi tend to contribute little in terms of P uptake in severely P-impoverished habitats (91, 168). Even under low levels of root colonization of *Glycine max* (soybean), the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis suppresses the expression of several *PHT1* genes in roots and nodules under P starvation (26).

The internal plant $[P_i]$ is a major factor in the control of *PHT1* expression (122). Expression is generally greater at low internal $[P_i]$, with upregulation of the expression of the *PHT1* gene (26, 102, 103, 169), and this is commonly interpreted as a P-starvation response. This is at odds with the minor role of kinetic properties of the P-uptake system in determining plant P_i-uptake capacity from soil (12, 124, 154). In fact, all that can be concluded is that the expression of P_i transporters differs between P-starved and P-sufficient plants, but whether this shows upregulation or whether this actually indicates downregulation under P-sufficient conditions requires a physiological approach, as outlined in Section 3.2.

3.2. Phosphorus Toxicity

Using their Ashertron facility, Asher & Loneragan (10) showed that for P-sensitive crop plants, P can become toxic at twice the concentration that can be expected in the soil solution of a fertilized field. While P toxicity is known for crop plants (10, 141), it is relatively uncommon, except when the P supply to P-starved plants is increased suddenly (33, 58). However, it is fairly common in species adapted to P-impoverished habitats when exposed to P availability slightly higher than that in their natural habitat (60, 70, 97, 121). Shane et al. (152) showed that P sensitivity in *Hakea prostrata* (Proteaceae) is associated with a very low capacity of this species to downregulate its P-uptake system, and similar results were obtained for two *Banksia* species (Proteaceae) (39). Conversely, *Grevillea crithmifolia* in the same family is P insensitive and shows strong downregulation of its P-uptake system (150) (**Figure 3**). This indicates that the differential expression of P transporters is a mechanism to avoid P toxicity rather than an acclimation to acquire more P at low availability. Next, I discuss the phenomenon of P toxicity, beginning from the accumulation of P_i within cells to death in terrestrial plants.

A low capacity to downregulate P-uptake systems is only part of the explanation for P sensitivity in some Proteaceae species. In addition, their preferential allocation of P to mesophyll cells plays a role (69, 72, 151). Many dicots from high P habitats allocate substantial amounts of P to their epidermal cells, thus avoiding accumulation in mesophyll cells (36, 63, 72). A high calcium supply aggravates the P toxicity symptoms of P-sensitive species (61, 121). Calcium-enhanced P toxicity provides an explanation for the calcifuge habit of most Proteaceae species (73). Calcium enhances the preferential allocation of P to palisade mesophyll cells under high P conditions, without a change in whole leaf P concentration (**Figure 4**). Calcifuge Proteaceae species show a greater P concentration in their palisade mesophyll than soil-indifferent species do, in accordance Phosphorus toxicity: occurs when plants take up too much phosphorus; symptoms include premature leaf senescence, chlorosis and necrosis, and stunted growth



Hakea prostrata



Figure 3

Net uptake rates of inorganic phosphorus (P) of intact whole root systems, calculated from P-depletion curves. The nutrient solution for the uptake studies contained 5 μ M P. Uptake rates are plotted against the external P concentration ([P]) during plant growth for two Proteaceae species. *Grevillea critbmifolia (left)* is P insensitive and *Hakea prostrata (right)* is P sensitive. The P-insensitive species shows downregulation of its P-uptake capacity (the common response in most investigated species), whereas the P-sensitive species does not show downregulation. Both species produce cluster roots at low P availability, and cluster root formation in both species is systemically suppressed at a high P supply, showing that P sensitivity is not associated with the formation of cluster roots. Figure adapted from Reference 98 based on data on *Grevillea critbmifolia* from Reference 150 and on *Hakea prostrata* from Reference 152. Photos provided by Michael W. Shane.

with their greater P sensitivity (71). In *Oryza sativa* (rice), P toxicity is associated with phytic acid accumulation in leaf cells that reduces metal availability and the activity of superoxide dismutase, which requires these metals, thus triggering lipid peroxidation (166).

In summary, the significance of differential expression of P transporters involved in P_i uptake from the soil solution is the avoidance of P toxicity, rather than enhancement of P uptake under low P conditions. Under low soil P conditions, soil characteristics, rather than kinetic properties of the roots' P-uptake system, dominate the uptake capacity of P from soil. To make further progress in this area requires concerted efforts of molecular plant biologists and ecophysiologists.

Phospholipids: lipids with a hydrophilic head, containing a phosphate group, and two hydrophobic tails derived from fatty acids, joined by glycerol

4. PHOSPHORUS UTILIZATION: BEYOND PHOSPHORUS FRACTIONATION

The total P concentration in plants comprises four major fractions—orthophosphate (P_i), metabolite P, P in phospholipids, and P in nucleic acids (183)—and a residual fraction, which is poorly defined and thought to include phosphorylated proteins (183). These fractions are based on chemical separations of plant material, usually leaves, but they also play an important role in the plant's physiology. Many Proteaceae species function at very low leaf P concentration (~0.2 mg g⁻¹ dry weight) (74), well below the concentration considered adequate for crop growth (2 mg g⁻¹ dry weight) (53). Species from other families in the same P-impoverished habitats exhibit similarly low leaf P concentration (64, 75). Despite low leaf P concentration, these

26 Lambers



Figure 4

Calcium (Ca)-enhanced phosphorus (P) toxicity in *Hakea incrassata*, a P-sensitive Proteaceae species. (*a*) Leaf anatomical structure corresponding to the (*b*) qualitative energy-dispersive X-ray image maps showing the distribution of Ca and P in the upper part of a transverse leaf section. Note that Ca modulates cell-specific P allocation. (*c*) Visual symptoms of the two treatments. In this experiment, plants were grown in nutrient solution; low and high Ca treatments were 0 and 600 μ M Ca, respectively, and the P supply was 10 μ M. The leaf P concentrations in the two treatments were not statistically different (6.9 ± 1.1 and 7.4 ± 1.2 mg g⁻¹ dry weight, respectively), despite a substantial increase in P concentration in the palisade mesophyll cells (cellular P concentration increased from 9 to 100 μ mol g⁻¹ fresh weight). Arrows indicate Ca-phosphate deposits; the arrowhead indicates Ca-based crystals. Panels *a* and *b* adapted with permission from Reference 71. Panel *c* adapted with permission from Reference 73.

species exhibit rates of photosynthesis similar to those of crop plants and hence show very high photosynthetic P-use efficiency (PPUE) (46, 64, 93). To achieve this, they must have invested considerably less P in one or more of the P fractions referred to above. If the aim is to understand why some species achieve a very high PPUE and explore whether this is desirable in crop plants, we need to understand in which of the fractions less P is invested and whether this occurs at the expense of desirable traits.

4.1. Orthophosphate: Preferential Allocation to Specific Leaf Cells

The plant [P_i] strongly depends on P availability, more so than the concentration of any other plant P fraction (183). The P that is not required for metabolism accumulates in cell vacuoles (192). According to Conn & Gilliham (36), monocots allocate P preferentially to mesophyll cells, whereas dicots show preferential P allocation to epidermal cells. However, most Proteaceae species do not exhibit this pattern because those that evolved in P-impoverished landscapes show preferential allocation to mesophyll cells (72, 94, 151). Since most of the leaf P is organic when plants grow at a low P availability (67, 190), there will be very little P in vacuoles. Within the same family, species that evolved in landscapes with volcanic soils that contain vast amounts of P do show preferential other eudicot families. Therefore, the preferential allocation of P to mesophyll cells has evolved in species of several eudicot families, and this trait reflects the P availability in landscapes where species evolved, rather than their phylogeny.

Photosynthetic phosphorus-use efficiency (PPUE): the rate of photosynthesis per unit of leaf phosphorus

Endoplasmic reticulum:

an interconnected network of tubular and planar membranes that supports the synthesis and export of proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids Preferential P allocation to metabolically active mesophyll cells, rather than metabolically inactive epidermal cells, contributes to the high PPUE of species from severely P-impoverished habitats (64). When grasslands in Inner Mongolia are exposed to simulated nitrogen (N) deposition, which makes P limiting for their productivity, forbs respond with a greater acquisition of P, whereas grasses show greater P-use efficiency in their leaves than forbs do (171). This is likely partly accounted for by the differential P-allocation patterns in monocots and dicots.

4.2. Phospholipids

Phospholipids are important components of the tonoplast; endoplasmic reticulum; Golgi apparatus (8, 83); and nuclear, plasma, and mitochondrial membranes and also play a role in signaling during plant development and in responses to stress (38). Under P starvation, some plants, including *A. thaliana* and *H. vulgare*, replace some of their phospholipids with lipids that do not contain P (9, 49).

Remarkably, several Proteaceae species that exhibit a very high PPUE replace most of their phospholipids by galactolipids and sulfolipids during leaf development; this pattern is hardwired, rather than a P-starvation response (93). While the lipid fraction of young, expanding leaves, on average, contains 46% phospholipids, mature leaves show as little as 9.6% phospholipids. Based on an analysis of leaf P fractions, mature leaves of *Melaleuca systena* (Myrtaceae), which occurs in the same habitat as Proteaceae species, also function at low phospholipid concentrations (190). In addition to preferential allocation of P to mesophyll cells, the replacement of phospholipids during leaf development contributes to a high PPUE.

In young leaves of P-limited *H. prostrata* (Proteaceae) plants, phosphatidylcholine/ phosphatidylethanolamine and associated transcript levels are higher, while phosphatidylglycerol and sulfolipid levels are lower than in mature leaves (88). Phosphate reduces galactolipid and increases phospholipid concentrations in mature leaves, with concomitant changes in the expression of four *H. prostrata* genes. A regulatory network with a small number of central hubs underpins extensive phospholipid replacement during leaf development in this P-efficient Proteaceae species. This framework allows a high PPUE in a low P environment.

Why young leaves of P-efficient Proteaceae species start off producing phospholipids and then replace them, rather than producing galactolipids and sulfolipids to begin with, remains an open question (but see Section 4.3). During development, organelles other than chloroplasts, in which phospholipids are only a minor component (11), are built up, and in the nonchloroplast membranes phospholipids must have been replaced by other lipids. The Proteaceae may have adapted to low P situations, minimizing membrane perturbation resulting from phospholipid replacement in a manner that deserves further investigation. The plasma membrane leaflet facing the apoplast (probably the major water permeability barrier) contains only trace amounts of galactolipids (173), and phospholipids possibly play a vital role in the plasma membrane and tonoplast during leaf expansion when they require a high degree of lipid order. This aspect deserves further study, and if we seek to exploit this trait linked to a high PPUE in P-efficient crop plants, it will require the concerted action of physiologists and molecular plant biologists.

4.3. Nucleic Acids

Nucleic acids are the largest organic P fraction in leaves, generally comprising 40–60% of total organic P in leaves (183) and approximately $0.3-2 \text{ mg P } \text{g}^{-1}$ dry weight, depending on species and P supply (17, 183). This fraction tends to contain at least 85% RNA, with the remainder being DNA (17, 165). Most RNA is ribosomal RNA (rRNA): *Cucurbita ficifolia* seedling roots contain approximately 94% rRNA, 4% transfer RNA, and 2% messenger RNA (84). In eukaryotes,

ribosomes comprise 79 to 80 ribosomal proteins and 4 main ribosomal RNAs (185). Ribosomes continually turn over, and *A. thaliana* uses selective mechanisms to transport rRNA or ribosomes to the vacuole, where rRNA is degraded using autophagy-like mechanisms; breakdown products are recycled (108).

The major difference between P-efficient Proteaceae and inefficient species, such as *A. thaliana*, is their low abundance of rRNA (163), and, based on an analysis of leaf P fractions, this is also the case in *M. systema* (Myrtaceae), which grows in similar P-impoverished habitats (190). In *A. thaliana*, 31% of the genome encodes membrane proteins (162) that will be synthesized on ribosomes attached to the phospholipid-containing endoplasmic reticulum (142). Among eukaryotes, the proportion of the genome that codes for membrane proteins is relatively constant at approximately 30% (138), and hence we expect the proportion of total ribosomes attached to the endoplasmic reticulum to be relatively constant as well. Given that the endoplasmic reticulum accounts for >60% of the phospholipid mass in a variety of cell types (89), it is possible that the decline in phospholipids is associated with less endoplasmic reticulum being required to support ribosomal protein synthesis in highly P-efficient Proteaceae and co-occurring species. However, since the lipid fraction of young leaves of P-efficient Proteaceae species contains 46% phospholipids, compared with 9.6% in mature leaves (93), this decline cannot be entirely accounted for by changes in the endoplasmic reticulum, even if it contains >60% of the phospholipid mass (89).

A low investment in rRNA obviously saves P, but what might this be traded off against? Based on an analysis of an A. thaliana mutant hyperaccumulating subunits of nontranslating ribosomes, Cheong et al. (30) suggested that a greater abundance of ribosomes may buffer fluctuating translation by preexisting nontranslating ribosomes before de novo synthesis meets temperature-induced changes in demands. Using a cell culture of A. thaliana, Salih et al. (144) induced oxidative stress, showing that ribosome content on a total-cell-protein basis decreases, but overall protein synthesis rates on a ribosome-abundance basis show that the resident ribosomes retain their function. The degradation and synthesis rates of most ribosomal proteins slow following oxidative stress, leading to an aging population of ribosomes in stressed cells. Overall, ribosome abundance decreases, and their age increases with oxidative stress, but the function of the aging ribosomes appears to be maintained concomitantly with differences in turnover and abundance of specific ribosomal proteins. Differences in turnover and abundance of ribosomes under oxidative stress may contribute to plant cytosolic ribosome resilience to oxidative stress (144). The turnover rates of 26 40S subunit ribosomal proteins and 29 60S subunit ribosomal proteins show that half of the ribosome population in cell cultures of A. thaliana is replaced every 3-4 days (145). Historically, the multiprotein ribosome complexes have been considered static protein synthesis machines that are not subject to extensive regulation but only read messenger RNA (mRNA) and produce polypeptides accordingly. Recent evidence, however, shows the heterogeneous nature of ribosomes. A prominent example of ribosome heterogeneity is shown in A. thaliana, revealing genome duplications and multiple paralogs of each ribosomal protein gene (109).

The genes encoding rRNA are the most abundant genes in the eukaryotic genome, residing in tandem repetitive clusters, sometimes with hundreds of copies. A unique gene amplification system compensates for loss of copies, thus maintaining copy number, albeit with some fluctuations. The repeat number determines sensitivity to DNA damage (85). Plant genomes contain tandem arrays of rRNA genes, many of which are transcriptionally silenced. Silent recombinant DNA (rDNA) repeats may act as backup copies for ribosome biogenesis and have nuclear organization roles. Following genome editing in the *A. thaliana* female gametophyte, Lopez et al. (104) reduced 45S rDNA copy numbers to ~10%. Despite drastic reduction of rDNA copies, rRNA transcriptional rates and steady-state levels remained the same as those in wild-type plants. Gene dosage compensation of rRNA transcript levels is associated with reduction of silencing histone

Ribosome:

macromolecular machines in cells performing protein synthesis, linking amino acids in the order specified by the codons of messenger RNA

Autophagy:

degradation pathway in which substrates are wrapped in vesicles (autophagosomes) and delivered to the vacuole, where they are broken down

Nontranslating

ribosomes: fully intact ribosomes that are not involved in mRNA translation and protein synthesis; they may become active under stress conditions marks at rDNA. Genome editing of rRNA repeats offers a powerful technique to elucidate rDNA dosage compensation mechanisms and impacts of low rDNA copy number on genome stability, development, and cellular processes (104).

What can be gleaned from the molecular information about model plants for our understanding of native plants in P-impoverished habitats and strategies to develop more P-efficient crop plants? For small organisms, such as slow-growing freshwater copepods and fast-growing cladocerans, the relationship between growth rate, P investment, and N:P ratio has been explained by the growth rate hypothesis, which proposes that fast growth rates are associated with a proportionally greater requirement for P than for N because organisms must allocate a disproportionately greater amount of P to rRNA to meet the protein synthesis demands to support rapid growth (138, 161). Nucleic acids have an N:P stoichiometry of 4:1 (137), much lower than that of leaves (187). However, the P-efficient leaves referred to above were mature and nongrowing, and hence the growth rate hypothesis cannot explain major differences among plant species. Matzek & Vitousek (111) compared N:P ratios and protein:RNA ratios in Pinus contorta and Pinus muricata growing at different rates, depending on nutrient supply. The faster-growing plants had higher RNA, N, and P concentrations and lower protein:RNA ratios, but there was no correlation between growth rate and leaf N:P or protein:RNA ratios when comparing species of different inherent growth rates. Comparing mature leaves of the inherently faster-growing Banksia sessilis with those of the slower-growing Banksia attenuata, Han et al. (67) showed greater N:nucleic acid P ratios in the faster-growing species. However, since they also studied mature nongrowing leaves, faster rates of protein synthesis must have been balanced by faster rates of protein breakdown and, hence, protein turnover. The greater nucleic acid P concentration relative to the N concentration suggests a faster protein turnover in the slower-growing plants. Differences in rRNA in *Pinus* or nucleic acid P in *Banksia* leaves likely reflect protein turnover, rather than association with plant growth rates. Different proteins in leaves of H. vulgare (barley) turn over at 100-fold different rates (118). Abundant proteins in photosynthesis, photorespiration, and specific subunits of chlorophyll biosynthesis turn over much faster than the average protein in leaves. Therefore, differences among species might reflect differences in investment in proteins that exhibit a rapid turnover.

A low abundance of ribosomes and associated low concentration of the nucleic acid P fraction in leaves are the main reasons for a high PPUE in P-efficient Proteaceae species. Plant investments in ribosomes are like cities' investments in fire engines: They may invest in them in proportion to their long-term average needs, or they may overinvest, allowing them to not function for some of the time but jump into action when the alarm bells ring. It may be that less-P-efficient plants overinvest to a greater extent, and hence are better protected against stress (**Figure 5**). For example, they may limit plant vulnerabilities, which are still poorly known, to heat waves, particularly heat-wave-driven sudden plant death (24, 110). Exposure to or recovery from water stress will require the synthesis of proteins involved in the production or breakdown of compatible solutes and in the transport of solutes between different compartments inside and outside of the cell (98). The questions for those who seek to develop more-P-efficient crops are how safe they need to be and whether that safety margin can be reduced if the plants are well managed. This requires careful studies integrating physiology and molecular biology.

4.4. Phosphorus-Containing Metabolites

Sulpice et al. (163) were unable to measure all of the major molecules that make up the metabolite P fraction (phosphate esters and anhydrides) in six P-efficient Proteaceae due to interfering substances with the enzyme-linked assays in the leaf material. However, one of the major molecules,



Figure 5

A conceptual diagram exploring what a high ratio between the concentrations of foliar ribosomal RNA (involved in the structures on the left) and of leaf protein (dark blue structures on the right, synthesized on ribosomes) might mean for leaf functioning. Ribosomal RNA can be approximated by the nucleic acid phosphorus (P) fraction, and leaf protein can be approximated by nitrogen (N). A high ratio might reflect (*a*) a relatively large proportion of nontranslating ribosomes, which might become active under oxidative stress (144). Alternatively, (*b*) most ribosomes might be translating, and the reason why the ratio is low might be that the synthesized proteins turn over at a rapid rate (shown for one of the proteins, leaving only one intact) (78, 172), allowing a complement of proteins that suits a changing environment. Figure adapted from images created with BioRender.com.

glucose 6-phosphate, clearly did not exhibit low concentrations in comparison with that in *A. tbaliana*. Accordingly, the metabolite P fraction did not reveal a low concentration in one of these Proteaceae, *H. prostrata* (190). We can therefore safely conclude that metabolite P is the only one of the four fractions that is not low, relative to other measured species, in P-efficient Proteaceae. This is possible because these metabolites are predominantly substrates for enzymes in glycolysis and the Calvin-Benson cycle, and a decrease in substrate concentration might decrease the activity of these pathways, unless compensated by a greater abundance of the enzymes. However, a greater abundance of enzymes would incur P costs associated with rRNA and thus not lead to a more efficient use of P. This suggests a trade-off of metabolite (enzyme substrate) and protein (enzyme) concentrations in achieving rapid metabolic fluxes (135).

Trade-off:

the balancing of investment in mutually exclusive traits (e.g., protective structures versus photosynthetic machinery in leaves)

4.5. What Does the Variation in Leaf Phosphorus Fractions Really Mean?

There is insufficient information to arrive at firm conclusions about differences in P fractions in contrasting species. We do know that some Fabaceae function at higher leaf P concentrations than global averages (115, 187), but there are distinct exceptions of Fabaceae from P-impoverished habitats that exhibit low leaf P concentration (64, 75, 160). In a comparison of H. prostrata (Proteaceae) and Acacia rostellifera (Fabaceae), the P-efficient Proteaceae showed a low nucleic acid P concentration and relatively high metabolite P concentration, whereas the P-inefficient legume showed the opposite (190). A high nucleic acid P concentration would support high protein concentration in legumes, but a lower metabolite P concentration might curtail the activity of some of the glycolytic and Calvin-Benson cycle enzymes that use these metabolites as substrates. Does that mean they have greater control over the activity of their enzymes, because they do not function at full capacity, so a change in substrate concentration may quickly change their activity? If so, efficiency might be traded off against metabolic flexibility. It would be interesting to find out more about the allocation of P to the leaf P fractions in other Fabaceae that function at low leaf P concentration, for example, Jacksonia (75), Bossiaea (3), Gompholobium (128), and Daviesia (120), especially since cluster roots appear to be pervasive in the Daviesia group, which includes Daviesia, Gompholobium, Sphaerolobium, and Viminaria (120).

4.6. The Way Forward

To fully understand the significance of different patterns in allocation of P to major leaf P fractions, we need broader and targeted comparisons. We require a better understanding of the replacement of phospholipids in membranes and in which membranes phospholipid replacement does or does not occur. We also need more details about the metabolite P fraction to find out exactly which molecules differ among species. This is particularly important because this fraction also contains phytate, which is a storage compound, rather than a metabolically active molecule. Phytate is widely known as a storage compound in seeds (87, 105, 132) but also occurs in leaves, albeit at much lower concentrations. Phytate concentrations in leaves vary widely and tend to increase with decreasing leaf P concentrations (6).

We need to improve our methods to measure P-containing metabolites, by either solving issues with interfering substances that have been encountered before (163) or developing an alternative approach involving ³¹P-NMR (48, 113, 140). A modeling approach might also be useful to explore possible trade-offs involving investment in different P fractions. Finally, we need to explore what greater investment in ribosomes really means for plants in natural habitats and in agroecosystems (**Figure 5**).

5. PERSPECTIVES

When soils contain very little P or when P is strongly sorbed to soil particles, carboxylatereleasing P-mobilizing strategies are more effective than mycorrhizal strategies (100, 136). Mycorrhizal strategies are effective when soils are moderately infertile, and their persistence on severely P-impoverished soils is likely accounted for by mycorrhizas playing alternative roles, especially in defense against pathogens (5, 91). The facilitation of P uptake by carboxylate-releasing neighbors plays an important role in natural as well as managed systems when P limits plant productivity. Leaf [Mn] can be used to explore the role of carboxylate exudation, including that by facilitating neighbors (194). A challenge will be to identify matching root traits that enhance the chances of a plant to be facilitated (193). Facilitation may also involve mobilization of Si by P-mobilizing carboxylate-releasing neighbors and confer greater resistance to abiotic and biotic stresses (40, 42). Soil constraints and root traits such as root hairs and root elongation play a pivotal role in plant P acquisition when soil P concentrations are low, whereas the kinetic properties of the roots' P-uptake system are relatively unimportant and sometimes overrated (12). Variation in the expression of P transporters as dependent on P availability reflects downregulation when P is readily available, rather than upregulation when P is scarce (150).

Analyses of major P fractions in leaves can provide insight into a plant's PPUE, but to make progress we need to explore these fractions in more detail and find out which metabolites are affected, in which membranes phospholipids are replaced, and what it means for a leaf to function at high or low protein:rRNA ratios (**Figure 5**). These explorations require measurements of translating and nontranslating ribosomes and protein turnover rates under steady-state conditions as well as following exposure to stress. Progress requires concerted action from molecular plant scientists and ecophysiologists.

To capture the tremendous progress made on molecular aspects of plant P nutrition in the past decades, that information needs to be integrated with more traditional insights developed by soil scientists, ecologists, and plant physiologists. Plants typically grow in soil and in a dynamic environment. We can learn much from plants grown in nutrient solution in controlled environments, but, to fully understand a native or crop plant growing in a natural habitat or a farmer's field, that knowledge must be scrutinized in the real world.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Nonmycorrhizal plants occur in soil with either a very high availability of soil phosphorus (P) (e.g., phosphophiles) or very low concentrations of plant-available P (e.g., carboxylate-releasing P-mining species).
- 2. P-scavenging mycorrhizas are very effective at enhancing plant P acquisition at relatively low P availability but are ineffective at very low P availability.
- 3. When the availability of P in soil is low, soil characteristics (P diffusion coefficient, P buffer capacity) and root morphology (root hairs, length, and architecture) dominate the rate of plant P acquisition, whereas kinetic properties of the P-uptake system are relatively unimportant.
- 4. Phosphorus toxicity in plants results from a low capacity of roots to downregulate their P-uptake systems. When plants exhibit preferential allocation of P to mesophyll cells in general or to specific mesophyll cells in the presence of calcium, P becomes toxic at even lower leaf P concentrations because it has become concentrated.
- 5. A high photosynthetic P-use efficiency is associated with the preferential allocation of P to photosynthetically active mesophyll cells and a low investment of P in ribosomal RNA and phospholipids.
- 6. We have a very poor understanding of possible trade-offs between the efficient use of P and physiological plasticity; a better understanding would be pivotal to defining breeding targets.
- To further understand what differences in P fractions among species really mean, we need better methods to measure P-containing metabolites; nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) is a promising tool.

8. We need much more information on the activity of ribosomes, and the fraction that is nontranslating, in intact plants under different environmental conditions, including stress.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The author is not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I dedicate this manuscript to David Thomas Clarkson (1938–2021), a dear friend, who inspired many with a keen interest in plant nutrition. He passed away while I worked on this review. I am very grateful to Jim Barrow, Félix de Tombeur, Clément Gille, Patrick Hayes, Harvey Millar, John Raven, and Ben Turner for insightful discussions and comments on earlier versions of this manuscript as well as help with some of the illustrations. Funding was provided by the Australian Research Council (grants DP0985685, DP110101120, DP130100005, DP200101013, and LP200100341) and by the Deputy Vice Chancellor (Research) at the University of Western Australia.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abbott LK, Robson AD, De Boer G. 1984. The effect of phosphorus on the formation of hyphae in soil by the vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus fasciculatum*. New Phytol. 97:437–46
- Abrahão A, de Britto Costa P, Teodoro GS, Lambers H, Nascimento DL, et al. 2020. Vellozioid roots allow for habitat specialization among rock- and soil-dwelling Velloziaceae in *campos rupestres*. Funct. Ecol. 34:442–57
- Abrahão A, Ryan MH, Laliberté E, Oliveira RS, Lambers H. 2018. Phosphorus- and nitrogenacquisition strategies in two *Bossiaea* species (Fabaceae) along retrogressive soil chronosequences in south-western Australia. *Physiol. Plant* 163:323–43
- Ahanger MA, Bhat JA, Siddiqui MH, Rinklebe J, Ahmad P. 2020. Integration of silicon and secondary metabolites in plants: a significant association in stress tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 71:6758–74
- Albornoz FE, Burgess TI, Lambers H, Etchells H, Laliberté E. 2017. Native soilborne pathogens equalize differences in competitive ability between plants of contrasting nutrient-acquisition strategies. *J. Ecol.* 105:549–57
- 6. Alkarawi HH, Zotz G. 2014. Phytic acid in green leaves of herbaceous plants—temporal variation *in situ* and response to different nitrogen/phosphorus fertilizing regimes. *AoB Plants* 6:plu048
- Anderson G, Williams EG, Moir JO. 1974. A comparison of the sorption of inorganic orthophosphate and inositol hexaphosphate by six acid soils. *7. Soil Sci.* 25:51–62
- Andersson MX, Larsson KE, Tjellström H, Liljenberg C, Sandelius AS. 2005. Phosphate-limited oat. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:27578–86
- Andersson MX, Stridh MH, Larsson KE, Liljenberg C, Sandelius AS. 2003. Phosphate-deficient oat replaces a major portion of the plasma membrane phospholipids with the galactolipid digalactosyldiacylglycerol. *FEBS Lett.* 537:128–32
- Asher CJ, Loneragan JF. 1967. Response of plants to phosphate concentration in solution culture: I. Growth and phosphorus content. Soil Sci. 103:225–33
- Bahl J, Francke B, Monéger R. 1976. Lipid composition of envelopes, prolamellar bodies and other plastid membranes in etiolated, green and greening wheat leaves. *Planta* 129:193–201
- 12. Barber SA. 1962. A diffusion and mass-flow concept of soil nutrient availability. Soil Sci. 93:39-49

- 13. Barrow NJ. 2017. The effects of pH on phosphate uptake from the soil. Plant Soil 410:401-10
- 14. Barrow NJ. 2021. Comparing two theories about the nature of soil phosphate. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 72:679-85
- 15. Barrow NJ, Sen A, Roy N, Debnath A. 2021. The soil phosphate fractionation fallacy. *Plant Soil* 459:1–11
- 16. Berzelius JJ. 1814. An Attempt to Establish a Pure Scientific System of Mineralogy: by the Application of the Electro-Chemical Theory and the Chemical Proportions, transl. J. Black. Edinburgh, UK: R. Baldwin
- Bieleski RL. 1968. Effect of phosphorus deficiency on levels of phosphorus compounds in Spirodela. Plant Physiol. 43:1309–16
- Bieleski RL. 1973. Phosphate pools, phosphate transport, and phosphate availability. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 24:225–52
- Blake RE, Walter LM. 1999. Kinetics of feldspar and quartz dissolution at 70–80°C and near-neutral pH: effects of organic acids and NaCl. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 63:2043–59
- Bolland MDA. 1997. Comparative phosphorus requirement of four lupin species. J. Plant Nutr. 20:1239– 53
- 21. Braun-Blanquet J. 1949. Übersicht der Pflanzengesellschaften rätiens (II). Vegetatio 1:129-46
- Bray AW, Oelkers EH, Bonneville S, Wolff-Boenisch D, Potts NJ, et al. 2015. The effect of pH, grain size, and organic ligands on biotite weathering rates. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 164:127–45
- Breeze VG, Wild A, Hopper MJ, Jones LHP. 1984. The uptake of phosphate by plants from flowing nutrient solution. II. Growth of *Lolium perenne* L. at constant phosphate concentrations. *J. Exp. Bot.* 35:1210–21
- 24. Breshears DD, Fontaine JB, Ruthrof KX, Field JP, Feng X, et al. 2021. Underappreciated plant vulnerabilities to heat waves. *New Phytol.* 231:32–39
- Brundrett MC. 2009. Mycorrhizal associations and other means of nutrition of vascular plants: understanding the global diversity of host plants by resolving conflicting information and developing reliable means of diagnosis. *Plant Soil* 320:37–77
- Bulgarelli RG, De Oliveira VH, de Andrade SAL. 2020. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis alters the expression of *PHT1* phosphate transporters in roots and nodules of P-starved soybean plants. *Theor: Exp. Plant Physiol.* 32:243–53
- Cade-Menun BJ. 2017. Characterizing phosphorus forms in cropland soils with solution ³¹P-NMR: past studies and future research needs. *Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric.* 4:19
- Cama J, Ganor J. 2006. The effects of organic acids on the dissolution of silicate minerals: a case study of oxalate catalysis of kaolinite dissolution. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 70:2191–209
- 29. Chang SC, Jackson ML. 1957. Fraction of soil forms of phosphorus. Soil Sci. 84:133-44
- 30. Cheong BE, Beine-Golovchuk O, Gorka M, Ho WWH, Martinez-Seidel F, et al. 2021. *Arabidopsis* REI-LIKE proteins activate ribosome biogenesis during cold acclimation. *Sci. Rep.* 11:2410
- Chiou T-J, Lin S-I. 2011. Signaling network in sensing phosphate availability in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 62:185–206
- Clarkson DT, Hanson JB. 1980. The mineral nutrition of higher plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 31:239– 98
- 33. Clarkson DT, Scattergood CB. 1982. Growth and phosphate transport in barley and tomato plants during the development of, and recovery from, phosphate-stress. *J. Exp. Bot.* 33:865–75
- Colwell JD. 1965. An automatic procedure for the determination of phosphorus in sodium hydrogen carbonate extract of soil. *Chem. Ind.* 10:893–95
- Cong W-F, Suriyagoda LDB, Lambers H. 2020. Tightening the phosphorus cycle through phosphorusefficient crop genotypes. *Trends Plant Sci.* 25:967–75
- Conn S, Gilliham M. 2010. Comparative physiology of elemental distributions in plants. Ann. Bot. 105:1081–102
- Coskun D, Deshmukh R, Sonah H, Menzies JG, Reynolds O, et al. 2019. The controversies of silicon's role in plant biology. *New Phytol.* 221:67–85
- 38. Cowan AK. 2006. Phospholipids as plant growth regulators. Plant Growth Regul. 48:97-109
- de Campos MCR, Pearse SJ, Oliveira RS, Lambers H. 2013. Downregulation of net phosphorus-uptake capacity is inversely related to leaf phosphorus-resorption proficiency in four species from a phosphorusimpoverished environment. *Ann. Bot.* 111:445–54

30. Arabidopsis may buffer fluctuating protein translation by recruiting preexisting nontranslating ribosomes upon stress-induced increased demands before increased de novo synthesis.

- de Tombeur F, Cornelis J-T, Lambers H. 2021. Silicon mobilisation by root-released carboxylates. *Trends Plant Sci.* 26:1116–25
- de Tombeur F, Laliberté E, Lambers H, Faucon M-P, Zemunik G, et al. 2021. A shift from phenol to silica-based leaf defences during long-term soil and ecosystem development. *Ecol. Lett.* 24:984–95
- 42. de Tombeur F, Roux P, Cornelis J-T. 2021. Silicon dynamics through the lens of soil-plant-animal interactions: perspectives for agricultural practices. *Plant Soil* 467:1–28
- de Tombeur F, Turner BL, Laliberté E, Lambers H, Mahy G, et al. 2020. Plants sustain the terrestrial silicon cycle during ecosystem retrogression. *Science* 369:1245–48
- Debona D, Rodrigues FA, Datnoff LE. 2017. Silicon's role in abiotic and biotic plant stresses. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 55:85–107
- Dechassa N, Schenk MK, Claassen N, Steingrobe B. 2003. Phosphorus efficiency of cabbage (*Brassica oleraceae* L. var. *capitata*), carrot (*Daucus carota* L.), and potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Plant Soil* 250:215–24
- Denton MD, Veneklaas EJ, Freimoser FM, Lambers H. 2007. *Banksia* species (Proteaceae) from severely phosphorus-impoverished soils exhibit extreme efficiency in the use and re-mobilization of phosphorus. *Plant Cell Environ.* 30:1557–65
- Dissanayaka DMSB, Ghahremani M, Siebers M, Wasaki J, Plaxton WC. 2020. Recent insights into the metabolic adaptations of phosphorus-deprived plants. *J. Exp. Bot.* 72:199–223
- 48. Doolette AL, Smernik RJ. 2016. Phosphorus speciation of dormant grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) canes in the Barossa Valley, South Australia. *Aust. J. Grape Wine Res.* 22:462–68
- 49. Dörmann P, Benning C. 2002. Galactolipids rule in seed plants. Trends Plant Sci. 7:112-18
- Dunlop J, Bowling DJF. 1978. Uptake of phosphate by white clover. II. The effect of pH on the electrogenic phosphate pump. *J. Exp. Bot.* 29:1147–53
- 51. Epstein E. 1999. Silicon. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50:641-64
- 52. Epstein E. 2009. Silicon: its manifold roles in plants. Ann. Appl. Biol. 155:155-60
- 53. Epstein E, Bloom AJ. 2005. Mineral Nutrition of Plants: Principles and Perspectives. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer
- García-López AM, Recena R, Delgado A. 2021. The adsorbent capacity of growing media does not constrain *myo*-inositol hexakiphosphate hydrolysis but its use as a phosphorus source by plants. *Plant Soil* 459:277–88
- Gardner WK, Parbery DG, Barber DA. 1981. Proteoid root morphology and function in *Lupinus albus*. *Plant Soil* 60:143–47
- Gardner WK, Parbery DG, Barber DA. 1982. The acquisition of phosphorus by *Lupinus albus* L. II. The effect of varying phosphorus supply and soil type on some characteristics of the soil/root interface. *Plant Soil* 68:33–41
- 57. Ghahremani M, Tran H, Biglou SG, O'Gallagher B, She Y-M, Plaxton WC. 2019. A glycoform of the secreted purple acid phosphatase AtPAP26 co-purifies with a mannose-binding lectin (AtGAL1) upregulated by phosphate-starved *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Environ*. 42:1139–57
- 58. Green DG, Ferguson WS, Warder FG. 1973. Accumulation of toxic levels of phosphorus in the leaves of phosphorus-deficient barley. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 53:241–46
- 59. Griffiths M, York LM. 2020. Targeting root ion uptake kinetics to increase plant productivity and nutrient use efficiency. *Plant Physiol*. 182:1854–68
- 60. Groves RH, Keraitis K. 1976. Survival and growth of seedlings of three sclerophyll species at high levels of phosphorus and nitrogen. *Aust. J. Bot.* 24:681–90
- 61. Grundon NJ. 1972. Mineral nutrition of some Queensland heath plants. J. Ecol. 60:171-81
- 62. Gu C, Dam T, Hart SC, Turner BL, Chadwick OA, et al. 2020. Quantifying uncertainties in sequential chemical extraction of soil phosphorus using XANES spectroscopy. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 54:2257–67
- Guilherme Pereira C, Clode PL, Oliveira RS, Lambers H. 2018. Eudicots from severely phosphorusimpoverished environments preferentially allocate phosphorus to their mesophyll. *New Phytol.* 218:959– 73
- 64. Guilherme Pereira C, Hayes PE, O'Sullivan O, Weerasinghe L, Clode PL, et al. 2019. Trait convergence in photosynthetic nutrient-use efficiency along a 2-million year dune chronosequence in a global biodiversity hotspot. *J. Ecol.* 107:2006–23

54. Sorption of phytate P in soil restricts its use by plants because of the sorption of P after phytate hydrolysis.

- Güsewell S, Schroth MH. 2017. How functional is a trait? Phosphorus mobilization through root exudates differs little between *Carex* species with and without specialized dauciform roots. *New Phytol.* 215:1438–50
- Hagen CE, Hopkins HT. 1955. Ionic species in orthophosphate absorption by barley roots. *Plant Physiol.* 30:193–99
- Han Z, Shi J, Pang J, Yan L, Finnegan PM, Lambers H. 2021. Foliar nutrient allocation patterns in Banksia attenuata and Banksia sessilis differing in growth rate and adaptation to low-phosphorus habitats. Ann. Bot. 128:419–30
- Hawkesford MJ, Cakmak I, Coskun D, De Kok LJ, Lambers H, et al. 2022. Functions of macronutrients. In *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Plants*, ed. Z Rengel, I Cakmak, PJ White. London: Elsevier. 4th ed. In press
- Hawkins H-J, Cramer MD, Mesjasz-Przybylowicz J, Przybylowicz W, Louw E, O'Brien C. 2008. Prevention and amelioration of phosphorus toxicity in Proteaceae grown on previously fertilised land. *Acta Hort*. 869:37–46
- Hawkins H-J, Hettasch H, Mesjasz-Przybylowicz J, Przybylowicz W, Cramer MD. 2008. Phosphorus toxicity in the Proteaceae: a problem in post-agricultural lands. *Sci. Hort.* 117:357–65
- Hayes PE, Clode PL, Guilherme Pereira C, Lambers H. 2019. Calcium modulates leaf cellspecific phosphorus allocation in Proteaceae from south-western Australia. *J. Exp. Bot.* 70:3995– 4009
- Hayes PE, Clode PL, Oliveira RS, Lambers H. 2018. Proteaceae from phosphorus-impoverished habitats preferentially allocate phosphorus to photosynthetic cells: an adaptation improving phosphorususe efficiency. *Plant Cell Environ.* 41:605–19
- Hayes PE, Guilherme Pereira C, Clode PL, Lambers H. 2019. Calcium-enhanced phosphorus-toxicity in calcifuge and soil-indifferent Proteaceae along the Jurien Bay chronosequence. *New Phytol.* 221:764– 77
- 74. Hayes PE, Nge FJ, Cramer MD, Finnegan PM, Fu P, et al. 2021. Traits related to efficient acquisition and use of phosphorus promote diversification in Proteaceae in phosphorus-impoverished landscapes. *Plant Soil* 462:67–88
- 75. Hayes PE, Turner BL, Lambers H, Laliberté E. 2014. Foliar nutrient concentrations and resorption efficiency in plants of contrasting nutrient-acquisition strategies along a 2-million-year dune chronosequence. *J. Ecol.* 102:396–410
- Hedin LO, Vitousek PM, Matson PA. 2003. Nutrient losses over four million years of tropical forest development. *Ecology* 84:2231–55
- Hedley MJ, Stewart JWB, Chauhan BS. 1982. Changes in inorganic and organic soil phosphorus fractions induced by cultivation practices and by laboratory incubations. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. 7, 46:970–76
- 78. Hellebust JA, Bidwell RGS. 1963. Protein turnover in wheat and snapdragon leaves: preliminary investigations. *Can.* 7. Bot. 41:969-83
- Hodson MJ, Evans DE. 2020. Aluminium-silicon interactions in higher plants: an update. J. Exp. Bot. 71:6719–29
- 80. Hübel F, Beck E. 1993. In-situ determination of the P-relations around the primary root of maize with respect to inorganic and phytate-P. *Plant Soil* 157:1–9
- Jaffré T. 1979. Accumulation du manganèse par les Protéacées de Nouvelle-Calédonie. C. R. Acad. Sci. 289:425–28
- Johnston AE, Poulton PR. 2019. Phosphorus in agriculture: a review of results from 175 years of research at Rothamsted, UK. J. Environ. Qual. 48:1133–44
- 83. Jouhet J, Maréchal E, Baldan B, Bligny R, Joyard J, Block MA. 2004. Phosphate deprivation induces transfer of DGDG galactolipid from chloroplast to mitochondria. *J. Cell Biol.* 167:863–74
- Kanda H, Kasukabe Y, Fujita H, Washino T, Tachibana S. 1994. Effect of low root temperature on ribonucleic acid concentrations in figleaf gourd and cucumber roots differing in tolerance to chilling temperature. *J. Jap. Soc. Hort. Sci.* 63:611–18
- 85. Kobayashi T. 2011. Regulation of ribosomal RNA gene copy number and its role in modulating genome integrity and evolutionary adaptability in yeast. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 68:1395–403

71. Phosphorus sensitivity is enhanced by preferential P allocation to mesophyll and aggravated by Ca displacing more P to mesophyll cells.

- Konoplenko MA, Güsewell S, Veselkin DV. 2017. Taxonomic and ecological patterns in root traits of Carex (Cyperaceae). Plant Soil 420:37–48
- 87. Kuerban M, Jiao W, Pang J, Jing J, Qiu L-J, et al. 2020. Targeting low-phytate soybean genotypes without compromising desirable phosphorus-acquisition traits. *Front. Genet.* 11:574547
- Kuppusamy T, Giavalisco P, Arvidsson S, Sulpice R, Stitt M, et al. 2014. Lipid biosynthesis and protein concentration respond uniquely to phosphate supply during leaf development in highly phosphorusefficient *Hakea prostrata*. *Plant Physiol*. 166:1891–911
- Lagace TA, Ridgway ND. 2013. The role of phospholipids in the biological activity and structure of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Res.* 1833:2499–510
- Lambers H, Albornoz FE, Arruda AJ, Barker T, Finnegan PM, et al. 2019. Nutrient-acquisition strategies. In *A Jewel in the Crown of a Global Biodiversity Hotspot*, ed. H Lambers, pp. 227–48. Perth, Aust.: Kwongan Found., West. Aust. Nat. Club
- Lambers H, Albornoz FE, Kotula L, Laliberté E, Ranathunge K, et al. 2018. How belowground interactions contribute to the coexistence of mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal species in severely phosphorus-impoverished hyperdiverse ecosystems. *Plant Soil* 424:11–34
- Lambers H, Barrow NJ. 2020. P₂O₅, K₂O, CaO, MgO, and basic cations: pervasive use of references to molecules that do not exist in soil. *Plant Soil* 452:1–4
- 93. Lambers H, Cawthray GR, Giavalisco P, Kuo J, Laliberté E, et al. 2012. Proteaceae from severely phosphorus-impoverished soils extensively replace phospholipids with galactolipids and sulfolipids during leaf development to achieve a high photosynthetic phosphorus-use-efficiency. New Phytol. 196:1098–108
- Lambers H, Clode PL, Hawkins H, Laliberté E, Oliveira RS, et al. 2015. Metabolic adaptations of the non-mycotrophic Proteaceae to soils with low phosphorus availability. In *Annual Plant Reviews*, Vol. 48: *Phosphorus Metabolism in Plants*, ed. WC Plaxton, H Lambers, pp. 289–336. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons
- Lambers H, Guilherme Pereira C, Wright IJ, Bellingham PJ, Bentley LP, et al. 2021. Leaf manganese concentrations as a tool to assess belowground plant functioning in phosphorus-impoverished environments. *Plant Soil* 461:43–61
- Lambers H, Hayes PE, Laliberté E, Oliveira RS, Turner BL. 2015. Leaf manganese accumulation and phosphorus-acquisition efficiency. *Trends Plant Sci.* 20:83–90
- Lambers H, Juniper D, Cawthray GR, Veneklaas EJ, Martínez-Ferri E. 2002. The pattern of carboxylate exudation in *Banksia grandis* (Proteaceae) is affected by the form of phosphate added to the soil. *Plant Soil* 238:111–22
- 98. Lambers H, Oliveira RS. 2019. Plant Physiological Ecology. Cham, Switz .: Springer. 3rd ed.
- 99. Lambers H, Plaxton WC. 2015. Phosphorus: back to the roots. In Annual Plant Reviews, Vol. 48: Phosphorus Metabolism in Plants, ed. WC Plaxton, H Lambers, pp. 3–22. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons
- Lambers H, Raven JA, Shaver GR, Smith SE. 2008. Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 23:95–103
- 101. Lamont B. 1982. Mechanisms for enhancing nutrient uptake in plants, with particular reference to Mediterranean South Africa and Western Australia. *Bot. Rev.* 48:597–689
- Liu J, Samac DA, Bucciarelli B, Allan DL, Vance CP. 2005. Signaling of phosphorus deficiency-induced gene expression in white lupin requires sugar and phloem transport. *Plant J*. 41:257–68
- López-Arredondo DL, Leyva-González MA, González-Morales SI, López-Bucio J, Herrera-Estrella L. 2014. Phosphate nutrition: improving low-phosphate tolerance in crops. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 65:95–123
- 104. Lopez FB, Fort A, Tadini L, Probst AV, McHale M, et al. 2021. Gene dosage compensation of rRNA transcript levels in *Arabidopsis thaliana* lines with reduced ribosomal gene copy number. *Plant Cell* 33:1135–50
- Lott JNA, Bojarski M, Kolasa J, Batten GD, Campbell LC. 2009. A review of the phosphorus content of dry cereal and legume crops of the world. *Int. J. Agric. Res. Gov. Ecol.* 8:351–70
- Lugli LF, Andersen KM, Aragão LEOC, Cordeiro AL, Cunha HFV, et al. 2020. Multiple phosphorus acquisition strategies adopted by fine roots in low-fertility soils in Central Amazonia. *Plant Soil* 450:49– 63

93. Highly P-efficient Proteaceae replace phospholipids by sulfolipids and galactolipids during leaf development but exhibit rapid rates of photosynthesis.

- 107. Mai W, Xue X, Feng G, Yang R, Tian C. 2019. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi—15-fold enlargement of the soil volume of cotton roots for phosphorus uptake in intensive planting conditions. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.* 90:31–35
- Marshall RS, Vierstra RD. 2018. Autophagy: the master of bulk and selective recycling. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 69:173–208
- 109. Martinez-Seidel F, Beine-Golovchuk O, Hsieh Y-C, Kopka J. 2020. Systematic review of plant ribosome heterogeneity and specialization. *Front. Plant Sci.* 11:948
- Matusick G, Ruthrof KX, Brouwers NC, Dell B, Hardy GSJ. 2013. Sudden forest canopy collapse corresponding with extreme drought and heat in a mediterranean-type eucalypt forest in southwestern Australia. *Eur. J. For. Res.* 132:497–510
- 111. Matzek V, Vitousek PM. 2009. N:P stoichiometry and protein:RNA ratios in vascular plants: an evaluation of the growth-rate hypothesis. *Ecol. Lett.* 12:765–71
- 112. McLaren TI, Smernik RJ, Simpson RJ, McLaughlin MJ, McBeath TM, et al. 2016. The chemical nature of organic phosphorus that accumulates in fertilized soils of a temperate pasture as determined by solution ³¹P NMR spectroscopy. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 10:27–38
- 113. McQuillan M, Smernik RJ, Doolette AL. 2020. Partitioning of phosphorus between biochemical and storage compounds in leaves follows a consistent pattern across four Australian genera growing in native settings. *Plant Soil* 454:57–75
- 114. Mimura T, Dietz KJ, Kaiser W, Schramm MJ, Kaiser G, Heber U. 1990. Phosphate transport across biomembranes and cytosolic phosphate homeostasis in barley leaves. *Planta* 180:139–46
- 115. Moir J, Jordan P, Moot D, Lucas R. 2016. Phosphorus response and optimum pH ranges of twelve pasture legumes grown in an acid upland New Zealand soil under glasshouse conditions. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 16:438–60
- Muchhal US, Raghothama KG. 1999. Transcriptional regulation of plant phosphate transporters. PNAS 96:5868–72
- 117. Narang RA, Bruene A, Altmann T. 2000. Analysis of phosphate acquisition efficiency in different *Arabidopsis* accessions. *Plant Physiol.* 124:1786–99
- 118. Nelson CJ, Alexova R, Jacoby RP, Millar AH. 2014. Proteins with high turnover rate in barley leaves estimated by proteome analysis combined with in planta isotope labeling. *Plant Physiol.* 166:91–108
- Newton I, Hooke R. 1675. Isaac Newton Letter to Robert Hooke, 5 February 1675. Simon Gratz Collection. Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia. https://digitallibrary.hsp.org/index.php/Detail/ objects/9792
- 120. Nge FJ, Cambridge ML, Ellsworth DS, Zhong H, Lambers H. 2020. Cluster roots are common in *Daviesia* and allies (Mirbelioids; Fabaceae). *J. R. Soc. W. Austr.* 103:111–18
- 121. Nichols DG, Beardsell DV. 1981. Interactions of calcium, nitrogen and potassium with phosphorus on the symptoms of toxicity in *Grevillea* cv. 'Poorinda Firebird'. *Plant Soil* 61:437–45
- 122. Nussaume L, Kanno S, Javot H, Marin E, Nakanishi TM, Thibaud M-C. 2011. Phosphate import in plants: focus on the PHT1 transporters. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2:83
- 123. Nye PH. 1966. The effect of the nutrient intensity and buffering power of a soil, and the absorbing power, size and root hairs of a root, on nutrient absorption by diffusion. *Plant Soil* 25:81–105
- 124. Nye PH, Tinker PB. 1977. Solute Movement in the Soil-Root System. Oxford, UK: Blackwell
- 125. Pang J, Ruchi B, Zhao H, Bansal R, Bohuon E, et al. 2018. The carboxylate-releasing phosphorusmobilising strategy could be proxied by foliar manganese concentration in a large set of chickpea germplasm under low phosphorus supply. *New Phytol*. 219:518–29
- 126. Pang J, Wen Z, Kidd D, Ryan MH, Yu R, et al. 2021. Advances in understanding plant root uptake of phosphorus. In *Understanding and Improving Crop Root Function*, ed. PJ Gregory, pp. 321–72. Cambridge, UK: Burleigh Dodds Sci. Publ.
- 127. Parfitt RL. 1979. The availability of P from phosphate-goethite bridging complexes. Desorption and uptake by ryegrass. *Plant Soil* 53:55–65
- 128. Pate JS, Bell TL. 1999. Application of the ecosystem mimic concept to the species-rich *Banksia* woodlands of Western Australia. *Agrofor: Syst.* 45:303–41

109. Plants allocate large amounts of resources to the production of ribosomes, which turn out to be subject to extensive regulation.

113. To scrutinize leaf P fractions, ³¹P-NMR identifies P molecules; improving the preservation of sampled material will make this a powerful technique.

118. Barley leaf proteins turn over at 100-fold different rates; those related to photosynthesis are among those that turn over fastest.

- 129. Paungfoo-Lonhienne C, Lonhienne TGA, Mudge SR, Schenk PM, Christie M, et al. 2010. DNA is taken up by root hairs and pollen, and stimulates root and pollen tube growth. *Plant Physiol.* 153:799–805
- Pierre WH, Parker FW. 1927. Soil phosphorus studies: II. The concentration of organic and inorganic phosphorus in the soil solution and soil extracts and the availability of the organic phosphorus to plants. *Soil Sci.* 24:119–28
- Preuss CP, Huang CY, Tyerman SD. 2011. Proton-coupled high-affinity phosphate transport revealed from heterologous characterization in *Xenopus* of barley-root plasma membrane transporter, HvPHT1;1. *Plant Cell Environ.* 34:681–89
- 132. Raboy V. 2007. Seed phosphorus and the development of low-phytate crops. In *Inositol Phosphates: Linking Agriculture and the Environment*, ed. BL Turner, AE Richardson, EJ Mullaney, pp. 111–32. Wallingford, UK: CABI
- Rae AL, Jarmey JM, Mudge SR, Smith FW. 2004. Over-expression of a high-affinity phosphate transporter in transgenic barley plants does not enhance phosphate uptake rates. *Funct. Plant Biol.* 31:141–48
- 134. Raghothama KG. 1999. Phosphate acquisition. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50:665-93
- 135. Raven JA. 2018. The potential effect of low cell osmolarity on cell function through decreased concentration of enzyme substrates. *J. Exp. Bot.* 69:4667–73
- Raven JA, Lambers H, Smith SE, Westoby M. 2018. Costs of acquiring phosphorus by vascular land plants: patterns and implications for plant coexistence. *New Phytol*. 217:1420–27
- 137. Reef R, Ball MC, Feller IC, Lovelock CE. 2010. Relationship between RNA:DNA ratio, growth and elemental stoichiometry in mangrove trees. *Funct. Ecol.* 24:1064–72
- Rees TAV, Raven JA. 2021. The maximum growth rate hypothesis is correct for eukaryotic photosynthetic organisms, but not cyanobacteria. *New Phytol.* 230:601–11
- 139. Rengel Z, Cakmak I, White PJ, eds. 2022. *Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Plants*. London: Elsevier. 4th ed.
- Roberts JKM. 1984. Study of plant metabolism in vivo using NMR spectroscopy. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 35:375–86
- Rossiter RC. 1952. Phosphorus toxicity in subterranean clover and oats grown on Muchea sand, and the modifying effects of lime and nitrate-nitrogen. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 3:227–43
- Sadowski PG, Groen AJ, Dupree P, Lilley KS. 2008. Sub-cellular localization of membrane proteins. *Proteomics* 8:3991–4011
- Sakano K. 1990. Proton/phosphate stoichiometry in uptake of inorganic phosphate by cultured cells of Catharanthus roseus (L.) G. Don. Plant Physiol. 93:479–83
- 144. Salih KJ, Duncan O, Li L, O'Leary B, Fenske R, et al. 2020. Impact of oxidative stress on the function, abundance, and turnover of the *Arabidopsis* 80S cytosolic ribosome. *Plant J*. 103:128–39
- Salih KJ, Duncan O, Li L, Trösch J, Millar AH. 2020. The composition and turnover of the Arabidopsis thaliana 80S cytosolic ribosome. Biochem. J. 477:3019–32
- 146. Schubert S, Steffens D, Ashraf I. 2020. Is occluded phosphate plant-available? J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 183:338–44
- Sentenac H, Grignon C. 1985. Effect of pH on orthophosphate uptake by corn roots. *Plant Physiol*. 77:136–41
- Shane MW, Cawthray GR, Cramer MD, Kuo J, Lambers H. 2006. Specialized 'dauciform' roots of Cyperaceae are structurally distinct, but functionally analogous with 'cluster' roots. *Plant Cell Environ*. 29:1989–99
- 149. Shane MW, Lambers H. 2005. Cluster roots: a curiosity in context. Plant Soil 274:101-25
- 150. Shane MW, Lambers H. 2006. Systemic suppression of cluster-root formation and net P-uptake rates in *Grevillea crithmifolia* at elevated P supply: a proteacean with resistance for developing symptoms of 'P toxicity'. J. Exp. Bot. 57:413–23
- Shane MW, McCully ME, Lambers H. 2004. Tissue and cellular phosphorus storage during development of phosphorus toxicity in *Hakea prostrata* (Proteaceae). *J. Exp. Bot.* 55:1033–44
- Shane MW, Szota C, Lambers H. 2004. A root trait accounting for the extreme phosphorus sensitivity of *Hakea prostrata* (Proteaceae). *Plant Cell Environ*. 27:991–1004

- 153. Shi J, Strack D, Albornoz F, Han Z, Lambers H. 2020. Differences in investment and functioning of cluster roots account for different distributions between *Banksia attenuata* and *B. sessilis*, with contrasting life history. *Plant Soil* 447:85–98
- 154. Silberbush M, Barber SA. 1983. Sensitivity of simulated phosphorus uptake to parameters used by a mechanistic-mathematical model. *Plant Soil* 74:93–100
- 155. Smith RJ, Hopper SD, Shane MW. 2011. Sand-binding roots in Haemodoraceae: global survey and morphology in a phylogenetic context. *Plant Soil* 348:453–70
- 156. Smith SE, Anderson IC, Smith FA. 2015. Mycorrhizal associations and P acquisition: from cells to ecosystems In *Annual Plant Reviews*, Vol. 48: *Phosphorus Metabolism in Plants*, ed. WC Plaxton, H Lambers, pp. 409–40. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons
- 157. Smith SE, Smith FA. 2011. Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant nutrition and growth: new paradigms from cellular to ecosystem scales. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 62:227–50
- 158. Smyth TJ, Sanchez PA. 1980. Effects of lime, silicate, and phosphorus applications to an oxisol on phosphorus sorption and ion retention. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 44:500–5
- 159. Song A, Xue G, Cui P, Fan F, Liu H, et al. 2016. The role of silicon in enhancing resistance to bacterial blight of hydroponic- and soil-cultured rice. *Sci. Rep.* 6:24640
- Sprent JI. 1999. Nitrogen fixation and growth of non-crop legume species in diverse environments. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 2:149–62
- 161. Sterner R, Elser J. 2002. Ecological Stoichiometry: The Biology of Elements from Molecules to the Biosphere. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- 162. Stevens TJ, Arkin IT. 2000. Do more complex organisms have a greater proportion of membrane proteins in their genomes? *Proteins* 39:417–20
- 163. Sulpice R, Ishihara H, Schlereth A, Cawthray GR, Encke B, et al. 2014. Low levels of ribosomal RNA partly account for the very high photosynthetic phosphorus-use efficiency of Proteaceae species. *Plant Cell Environ.* 37:1276–98
- 164. Syers JK, Johnston AE, Curtin D. 2008. Changing concepts of the behavior of soil and fertilizer phosphorus and reconciling these with agronomic information. In *Efficiency of Soil and Fertilizer Phosphorus* Use: Reconciling Changing Concepts of Soil Phosphorus Behaviour with Agronomic Information, pp. 15–26. Rome: FAO
- Tachibana S. 1987. Effect of root temperature on the concentration of various forms of phosphorus in cucumber and figleaf gourd plants. *Bull. Fac. Agric. Mie Univ.* 74:1–8
- 166. Takagi D, Miyagi A, Tazoe Y, Suganami M, Kawai-Yamada M, et al. 2020. Phosphorus toxicity disrupts Rubisco activation and reactive oxygen species defence systems by phytic acid accumulation in leaves. *Plant Cell Environ*. 43:2033–53
- 167. Teodoro GS, Lambers H, Nascimento DL, de Britto Costa P, Flores-Borges DNA, et al. 2019. Specialized roots of Velloziaceae weather quartzite rock while mobilizing phosphorus using carboxylates. *Funct. Ecol.* 33:762–73
- Teste FP, Laliberté E, Lambers H, Auer Y, Kramer S, Kandeler E. 2016. Mycorrhizal fungal biomass and scavenging declines in phosphorus-impoverished soils during ecosystem retrogression. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 92:119–32
- Thibaud M-C, Arrighi J-F, Bayle V, Chiarenza S, Creff A, et al. 2010. Dissection of local and systemic transcriptional responses to phosphate starvation in *Arabidopsis. Plant J*. 64:775–89
- 170. Thomas GW. 1992. In defense of observations and measurements. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 56:1979
- 171. Tian Q, Yang L, Ma P, Zhou H, Liu N, et al. 2020. Belowground-mediated and phase-dependent processes drive nitrogen-evoked community changes in grasslands. *J. Ecol.* 108:1874–87
- 172. Tivendale ND, Hanson AD, Henry CS, Hegeman AD, Millar AH. 2020. Enzymes as parts in need of replacement—and how to extend their working life. *Trends Plant Sci.* 25:661–69
- 173. Tjellström H, Hellgren LI, Wieslander Å, Sandelius AS. 2010. Lipid asymmetry in plant plasma membranes: phosphate deficiency-induced phospholipid replacement is restricted to the cytosolic leaflet. *EASEB J*. 24:1128–38
- 174. Treseder KK, Allen MF. 2002. Direct nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: a model and field test. *New Phytol.* 155:507–15

163. Highly P-efficient Proteaceae exhibit very low levels of ribosomal RNA yet exhibit high activities of photosynthetic enzymes and photosynthesis.

166. Phosphorus toxicity involves the accumulation of phytic acid, which sequesters metals needed for Cu/Zn-type superoxide dismutase and thus triggers lipid peroxidation.

171. N deposition enhances P limitation of grassland productivity, enhancing expression of carboxylate-releasing P-mobilizing strategies, which increase leaf Mn concentrations.

- 175. Troll R. 1980. Johann Wolfgang von Goethe: poet-scientist. Am. Biol. Teach. 42:55-60
- 176. Turner BL, Hayes PE, Laliberté E. 2018. A climosequence of chronosequences in southwestern Australia. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 69:69–85
- 177. Turner BL, Romero TE. 2009. Short-term changes in extractable inorganic nutrients during storage of tropical rain forest soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73:1972–79
- 178. Ullrich CI, Novacky AJ. 1990. Extra- and intracellular pH and membrane potential changes induced by K⁺, Cl⁻, H₂PO₄⁻, and NO₃⁻ uptake and fusicoccin in root hairs of *Limnobium stoloniferum*. *Plant Physiol*. 94:1561–67
- Ullrich-Eberius CI, Novacky A, Fischer E, Lüttge U. 1981. Relationship between energy-dependent phosphate uptake and the electrical membrane potential in *Lemna gibba* G1. *Plant Physiol.* 67:797–801
- Ullrich-Eberius CI, Novacky A, Van Bel AJE. 1984. Phosphate uptake in *Lemna gibba* G1: energetics and kinetics. *Planta* 161:46–52
- 181. van't Padje A, Oyarte Galvez L, Klein M, Hink MA, Postma M, et al. 2020. Temporal tracking of quantum-dot apatite across in vitro mycorrhizal networks shows how host demand can influence fungal nutrient transfer strategies. *ISME* 7. 15:435–49
- Varadachari C, Barman AK, Ghosh K. 1994. Weathering of silicate minerals by organic acids II. Nature of residual products. *Geoderma* 61:251–68
- Veneklaas EJ, Lambers H, Bragg J, Finnegan PM, Lovelock CE, et al. 2012. Opportunities for improving phosphorus-use efficiency in crop plants. *New Phytol.* 195:306–20
- 184. Wen Z, Pang J, Tueux G, Liu Y, Shen J, et al. 2020. Contrasting patterns in biomass allocation, root morphology and mycorrhizal symbiosis for phosphorus acquisition among 20 chickpea genotypes differing in amount of rhizosheath carboxylates. *Funct. Ecol.* 34:1311–24
- Wilson DN, Doudna Cate JH. 2012. The structure and function of the eukaryotic ribosome. *Cold Spring* Harbor Perspect. Biol. 4:a011536
- Wolf AM, Baker DE. 1985. Comparisons of soil test phosphorus by Olsen, Bray P1, Mehlich I and Mehlich III methods. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 16:467–84
- Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature* 428:821–27
- Wu P, Ma L, Hou X, Wang M, Wu Y, et al. 2003. Phosphate starvation triggers distinct alterations of genome expression in *Arabidopsis* roots and leaves. *Plant Physiol*. 132:1260–71
- Xu X, Zhu T, Nikonorova N, De Smet I. 2019. Phosphorylation-mediated signalling in plants. In Annual Plant Reviews Online, ed. JA Roberts, pp. 909–32. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons
- Yan L, Zhang X, Han Z, Lambers H, Finnegan PM. 2019. Responses of foliar phosphorus fractions to soil age are diverse along a 2 Myr dune chronosequence. *New Phytol.* 223:1621–33
- Yan Y, Wan B, Liu F, Tan W, Liu M, Feng X. 2014. Adsorption-desorption of myo-inositol hexakisphosphate on hematite. *Soil Sci.* 179:476–85
- 192. Yang S-Y, Huang T-K, Kuo H-F, Chiou T-J. 2017. Role of vacuoles in phosphorus storage and remobilization. J. Exp. Bot. 68:3045-55
- Yu R-P, Lambers H, Callaway RM, Wright AJ, Li L. 2021. Belowground facilitation and trait matching: two or three to tango? *Trends Plant Sci.* 26:1227–35
- Yu R-P, Li X-X, Xiao Z-H, Lambers H, Li L. 2020. Phosphorus facilitation and covariation of root traits in steppe species. *New Phytol.* 226:1285–98
- Zemunik G, Turner BL, Lambers H, Laliberté E. 2015. Diversity of plant nutrient-acquisition strategies increases during long-term ecosystem development. Nat. Plants 1:15050
- Zhou Y, Sarker U, Neumann G, Ludewig U. 2019. The LaCEP1 peptide modulates cluster root morphology in *Lupinus albus*. *Physiol. Plant* 166:525–37